COURT FILED DIVISION II 2012 AUG - 7 AM II: 30 STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 43104-1-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

APCOMPOWER INC.,

Respondent,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

Sarah E. Kortokrax Assistant Attorney General WSBA #38392 Office of Attorney General Labor and Industries Division PO Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7768



#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal under the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act (WISHA), RCW 49.17. The Department of Labor and Industries (Department) cited APComPower (APC) for twelve serious violations of WISHA regulations relating to asbestos.

The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board) affirmed the violations in their entirety. On appeal, the trial court vacated the violations.

The trial court concluded there was insufficient evidence to support the Board's determination that APC employees were performing an asbestos abatement project, employees removed asbestos containing material, or that APC had the requisite knowledge of the violations. The trial court also appears to have concluded that, as a matter of law, APC was not required to comply with the asbestos regulations in any event because it is not in the business of performing asbestos abatement.

Here, it is the Board's decision that is reviewed and substantial evidence supports all of the Board's findings of fact. Under the plain language of the regulations, APC's work was subject to the regulations that apply to asbestos abatement projects and class I asbestos work, despite the fact that APC is not an asbestos abatement contractor.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Does substantial evidence support the Board's findings that APC performed an asbestos abatement project without being a certified asbestos abatement contractor within the meaning of WAC 296-65-030 when the evidence shows that APC employees removed at least one 50-60 gallon garbage bag full of block type insulation containing asbestos?
- 2. Does substantial evidence support the Board's findings that APC violated WAC 296-62-07712, WAC 296-62-07711, WAC 296-62-07719, WAC 296-62-07722, WAC 296-62-07715, WAC 296-62-07728, and WAC 296-62-07709, when the evidence shows that APC employees performed class I asbestos work without being certified and failed to take any of the proper precautions required by the regulations?
- 3. Does substantial evidence establish that APC had knowledge of the hazardous condition when the evidence shows that APC knew asbestos was present at the plant where workers would be working and failed to reasonably determine whether asbestos was in the specific work area of employees within the plant?

#### III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Department assigns error to the trial court's finding of fact 7 through 22. The Department assigns error to the superior court's failure to adopt the Board's findings.
- 2. The Department assigns error to the trial court's conclusions of law 2 through 13. Because the Board's findings of fact were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the Department assigns error to the superior court's findings, it is the findings of the Board that are reviewed. RCW 49.17.150; *Martinez Melgoza & Assocs., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn. App. 843, 847, 106 P.3d 776 (2005). The findings of fact of the superior court are irrelevant. *See Campbell v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv.*, 150 Wn.2d 881, 898-99, 83 P.3d 999 (2004) (in review of administrative decisions, findings of superior court are not reviewed). In the analogous context of the appeals under the Administrative Procedures Act, the court has held that appealing parties are not required to assign error to each of the superior court's findings. *Waste Management of Seattle, Inc. v. Util. & Transp. Comm'n*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 633, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994).

supported by substantial evidence, the superior court's conclusions of law erroneously vacate the Department's citation in its entirety.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 2009, Larry Gore, a Compliance Safety and Health Officer with the Department, began a WISHA inspection of an APC work site at the TransAlta steam plant in Centralia, Washington. BR Gore 98.<sup>2</sup> APC was at TransAlta as a contractor to work on pre-heaters at the plant during a planned outage. BR Ortis 8. The Department began the inspection because it had received a referral that employees had been exposed to asbestos. BR Gore 98.

After an opening conference with representatives from APC, the principal witnesses, Randall Johnson, Vincent Fierro and Tim Ketzenberg, laborers for APC, were interviewed. BR Gore 98-99. Through these interviews, Mr. Gore learned that employees of APC had removed block-type insulation material. BR Gore 99-100. Mr. Gore determined that APC had removed at least three square feet (or three linear feet) of asbestos containing material, which was a violation of WAC 296-65-030 because APC was not a certified asbestos contractor. BR Gore 100. He further determined that APC had performed class I work within the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The certified appeal board record is cited as "BR". Citations to the hearing and deposition transcripts will be listed with BR followed by the name of the witness and the page number of the transcript.

meaning of WAC 296-62-07703 and that it had not taken the precautions necessary when doing such work as set forth in WAC 296-62. BR Gore at 104-122. Class I work "means activities involving the removal of thermal system insulation or surfacing" asbestos containing material or presumed asbestos containing material. WAC 296-62-07703.

The Centralia TransAlta steam plant was built in 1972 and is used to produce electricity. BR Ortis 5-6. Because the plant was built in 1972, the majority of its systems were insulated with products containing asbestos. BR Ortis 6.<sup>3</sup> Due to the extensive presence of asbestos at the plant, TransAlta's on-site maintenance contractor, North American Energy Services, retained Performance Contracting, an asbestos contractor, to provide consulting services regarding asbestos on an ongoing basis to TransAlta and other contractors performing work at the plant. BR Ortis 31-32. Performance Contracting uses a subsidiary, Performance Abatement Services, to abate asbestos at the plant when needed. BR Ortis 32. Rather than abate whole sections, Performance Abatement Services typically only removes asbestos from the spot where work is needed, leaving behind asbestos where it believes work was not being performed. BR Puderbaugh 43. As Performance Contracting provides

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> WAC 296-62-07703 states that thermal insulation found in buildings built before 1980 is presumed to contain asbestos.

services on a year-round basis, it has a permanent office within the plant. BR Ortis 5. Because the plant is open twenty four hours a day, seven days a week, the plant is closed for approximately six weeks each year so that subcontractors may come in and perform maintenance work. BR Ortis 5-6. Keith Ortis, a certified asbestos supervisor, works for Performance Contracting as the on-site foreman at the plant. BR Ortis 6-7. He has worked at the plant for twenty-five years. BR Ortis 32.

APC was hired to perform maintenance and modification work to pre-heaters in the plant during a planned outage in May 2009. BR Ortis 8. The pre-heaters are hot air systems that pressurize coal, which, in turn, runs the boilers at the plant. BR Ortis 8. APC employees' duties included, among other things, work around the pre-heaters labeled 11 and 12, which were lined with tin and insulation material. BR Ortis 8-9. In order to work on the pre-heaters, APC's employees had to remove both the tin and the insulation material that lined them. BR Ortis 8-9; BR Larson 16.

Before commencing work, Mr. Ortis and Ralph Mitchell, a foreman for APC, walked around the area where work would be performed and discussed, without much detail, which areas surrounding pre-heaters 11 and 12 contained asbestos and which, at least, according to

Mr. Ortis, did not. BR Ortis 9-12. Mr. Ortis told Mr. Mitchell that, based on his recollection, there was some asbestos containing material in two areas; the area south of pre-heater 11 and the area north of pre-heater 12. BR Ortis 12, 37. Mr. Ortis further indicated that the asbestos in the area between pre-heaters 11 and 12, which was the area where APC's employees would be working, had been removed. BR Ortis 12, 37. He provided Mr. Mitchell with a hand drawn map that indicated where, according to Mr. Ortis, asbestos was located in that general area. BR Ortis 35; see also BR Ex. 1. However, the map was confusing and had east and west reversed. BR Mitchell 56-57; BR Ortis 36; BR Ex. 1. Further, at no time prior to, or during, the work did APC request or obtain copies of the good faith survey showing precisely where asbestos or presumed asbestos containing material was located because no records were kept by Performance Abatement Services. BR Ortis 33.

Additionally, areas in the plant that contain asbestos are marked with a red tag, while areas that do not contain asbestos are marked with a green tag. BR Ortis 10. APC's safety plan indicated that if an area had no tag, then they were to treat the area as if it contained asbestos.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As the Department will explain below, the record reveals that the area that Mr. Ortis told Mr. Mitchell did not contain asbestos did, in fact, contain asbestos.

BR Puderbaugh 34. The area where APC's employees were working did not have either a red or green tag. BR Puderbaugh 42.

APC's written statements told its employees that they were not expected to disturb asbestos containing insulation and that "all such insulation will be removed from work surfaces before" they began work. BR Ex. 10 at 2; see also BR Ex. 11; BR Ex. 12 at 2; BR Ex. 13 at 2. APC management further verbally assured employees that they were not working in areas containing asbestos. BR Ketzenberg 51. Tim Ketzenberg, an APC laborer, asked three different supervisors whether there was any asbestos insulation present at the location where he was working, and each supervisor told him there would not be any asbestos where he was working. BR Ketzenberg 51-52. Based on what his supervisors told him, he did not treat the areas where he worked as potentially containing asbestos. BR Ketzenberg 51.

Mr. Ketzenberg was working near what he referred to as "the north pre-heater", 5 when he encountered and removed block material and placed it in a plastic bag. BR Ketzenberg 49-50. Subsequently, Mr. Fierro and Mr. Johnson, who were working in the area between pre-heaters 11 and 12, which Mr. Ortis had identified as not containing asbestos material, also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Ketzenberg testified he could not remember if the north pre-heater was eleven or twelve. BR Ketzenberg 49.

encountered and removed block material from the north boiler unit. BR Fierro 62-65, 75; BR Johnson 85, 92. They filled 50-60-gallon clear garbage bags with the block material and other insulation and took them to the dumpster on site. BR Fierro 66; BR Johnson 85-86. They did not know at the time that the block insulation they encountered contained asbestos. BR Ketzenberg 48-52; BR Fierro 63-67; *and* BR Johnson 84-87.

After removing the block material, Mr. Fierro asked Mr. Mitchell, who happened to be passing by, what it was and whether they needed to worry about it. BR Fierro 67. Mr. Mitchell told him to stop working and hold on while he reached Mr. Ortis. BR Fierro 67. Mr. Ortis was called, as well as Kersandra Puderbaugh, APC's on-site safety director, and Larry Schreiner, the APC labor foreman. BR Ortis 15-16. Ms. Puderbaugh placed caution barriers around the area, and Mr. Ortis decided to return the next day with an abatement team to remove the asbestos material from the area. BR Ortis 17, 39. It was not until this incident with Mr. Fierro and Mr. Johnson that Mr. Ketzenberg realized the block type material he had removed might be asbestos because it was similar to the material that Mr. Fierro and Mr. Johnson had removed. BR Ketzenberg 52, 60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> There is conflicting testimony as to who called Mr. Ortis to inform him that asbestos may have been encountered. Mr. Ortis testified that Vincent Fierro called him (BR Ortis 67-68), while Vincent Fierro testified that it was Ralph Mitchell who contacted Mr. Ortis. (BR Fierro 14).

Ms. Puderbaugh directed Mr. Fierro and Mr. Johnson to accompany her to the first floor restroom so that their Tyvek suits, work boots, and personal clothing could be removed and bagged. BR Fierro 79. Neither APC nor Performance Abatement Services personnel, nor any other person, vacuumed the workers before taking them from the area where they were working. BR Fierro 71.

The next day, Mr. Ortis, along with an abatement team, went back to the area where Mr. Fierro and Mr. Johnson had encountered the block material. BR Ortis 17-18. Mr. Ortis subsequently received a call from Bill Largent, another APC laborer, indicating that APC employees may have gotten into asbestos again, as they had encountered more block material. BR Ortis 18. The APC workers at this time were located at the north end of the number 11 pre-heater. BR Ortis 18.

Mr. Ortis and his abatement team removed the asbestos located to the south of boiler 12 and south of boiler 11, as well as asbestos located between the two boilers. BR Ortis 19. At the time that Mr. Ortis and his abatement team arrived to perform the clean-up work, they noticed that further work on the boilers had been conducted during the night shift and that more material was missing. BR Ortis 20.

Mr. Ortis looked in the dumpsters and found clear plastic bags of insulation and asbestos. BR Ortis 20, 29. Both dumpsters contained the

block material removed by APC employees. BR Ortis 20-21, 29. Mr. Ortis had Pacific Rim Environmental sample the material for asbestos. BR Ortis 21. The sample tested positive. BR Galloway 18-19; See BR Ex. 15.

Following hearings, an industrial appeals judge issued a proposed decision and order on August 24, 2010, which affirmed the Department's citation in its entirety. BR 20.

APC filed a petition for review on September 20, 2010. BR 3. The Board issued an order denying the petition on October 7, 2010, and thus, the proposed decision became the final order of the Board. BR 2.

APC filed a notice of appeal to the Lewis County Superior Court. CP 65-66. The superior court issued a judgment on January 27, 2012, vacating the Department's citation in it its entirety. CP 274-282. The Department appealed the superior court's decision. CP 283-293.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Department is responsible for enforcing the WISHA. In this role, it imposes certain duties on employers by enacting rules to protect workers from unsafe working conditions, and it inspects work sites to ensure that employers and their employees use safe work practices.

Here, substantial evidence supports the Board's findings that APC employees were exposed to asbestos, which is a serious safety hazard that

presents a substantial probability of serious bodily injury. The record further supports the conclusion that APC violated each of the asbestos regulations that the Department cited it for violating.

The record also establishes that APC had both constructive knowledge and actual knowledge that its employees were exposed to serious and hazardous working conditions. Had APC exercised due diligence, it would have known of the presence of asbestos or presumed asbestos containing material, as APC management knew there was asbestos within the general area that its employees were working. APC failed to obtain the written documentation, a good faith survey under WAC 296-62-07721(2)(e), that would have shown whether asbestos was present or not. The purpose of a good faith survey is to avoid precisely the situation that occurred here, reliance on the imperfect memory of one person. Moreover, APC had its employees working in an area that was not tagged, yet its own safety plan recognized that areas with no tags were presumed to contain asbestos. If APC had exercised reasonable diligence, the lack of documentation, the confusing nature of the map, and the lack of green tags would have triggered further inquiry. APC then had actual knowledge of the asbestos after two employees discovered asbestos containing materials, yet APC continued to let employees work in the area despite knowing that its assumptions about the lack of asbestos were incorrect.

Substantial evidence also establishes that APC performed an asbestos abatement project as that term is defined by WAC 296-62-07703 because APC's employees removed more than three linear feet or three square feet or more of asbestos containing material. Finally, substantial evidence establishes that APC performed class I asbestos work because APC employees removed thermal insulation or surfacing asbestos containing material.

APC's primary argument below appears to be that it was not required to follow any of the workplace regulations that relate to asbestos exposure because it is not an asbestos abatement contractor. CP 104 However, under the plain language of WAC 296-65-003, any employer whose employees remove three or more square feet or three or more linear feet of material containing asbestos has performed an asbestos abatement project, and is therefore subject to the rules governing asbestos abatement, such as WAC 296-65-030. Under the plain language of the applicable regulations, the fact that an employer is not an asbestos abatement contractor does not absolve it of responsibility to comply with the rules governing asbestos exposure.

APC also argued below that the Department did not establish a chain of custody to prove that the thermal insulation removed by APC's employees contained asbestos. CP 101-102. However, substantial evidence supports that APC's employees were exposed to asbestos because a reasonable inference exists that can be drawn from circumstantial facts. *Harrison v. Whitt*, 40 Wn. App. 175, 177, 698 P.2d 87 (1985).

As substantial evidence supports all of the Board's findings, and as substantial evidence supports the Board's conclusion that APC was properly cited for violating the asbestos regulations, this Court should reverse the trial court's decision, and like the Board, uphold the Department's citation.

#### VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a WISHA appeal, this Court directly reviews the Board's decision based on the record before the agency. *J.E. Dunn Northwest, Inc.* v. *Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 139 Wn. App. 35, 42, 156 P.3d 250 (2007). The Board's findings of fact are conclusive if they are supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the record as a whole. *Mowat Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 148 Wn. App. 920, 925,

201 P.3d 407 (2009) (citing RCW 49.17.150(1)). Evidence is substantial if it is sufficient to convince a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise. *Mowat Constr. Co.*, 148 Wn. App. at 925. The Board's conclusions of law are reviewed to see if they follow from its findings of fact. *Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 136 Wn. App. 1, 4, 146 P.3d 1212 (2006).

WISHA statutory provisions and regulations must be interpreted in light of WISHA's stated purpose of ensuring safe and healthful working conditions for all Washington workers. *Elder Demolition, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 149 Wn. App. 799, 806, 207 P.3d 453 (2009) (citing RCW 49.17.010). This Court gives great deference to the Department's interpretation of WISHA. *See Lee Cook Trucking & Logging v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn. App. 471, 478 n.7, 36 P.3d 558 (2001).

A party may establish any fact by circumstantial evidence. *Tabak* v. *State*, 73 Wn. App. 691, 696, 870 P.2d 1014 (1994). Indeed, circumstantial evidence is "as good" as direct evidence. *Rogers Potato Services, LLC v. Countrywide Potato, LLC*, 152 Wn.2d 387, 391, 97 P.3d 745 (2004). Findings do not rest on mere speculation or conjecture when they are based on reasonable inferences drawn from circumstantial facts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The superior court below appears to have applied the incorrect standard of review and to have conducted a de novo review of the evidence rather than determining whether the Board's findings were supported by substantial evidence. *See* VRP.

See Harrison, 40 Wn. App. at 177. An inference is a logical conclusion or deduction from an established fact. Torakz v. Ford Motor Co., 8 Wn. App. 645, 654, 508 P.2d 1370 (1973). On appeal, the reviewing court may affirm findings based entirely on circumstantial evidence. See State Dep't of Fisheries v. Gillette, 27 Wn. App. 815, 821-22, 621 P.2d 764 (1980).

The Court of Appeals does not weigh evidence or make credibility determinations on appeal. *Greene v. Greene*, 97 Wn. App. 708, 714, 986 P.2d 144 (1999). Likewise, the reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the fact finder even though it may have resolved a factual dispute differently. *Sunnyside Valley Irrigations. Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879-80, 73 P.3d 369 (2003).

#### VII. ARGUMENT

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