COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 43104-1-II

NO. 43104-1-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

APCOMPOWER INC.,

Respondent,

V.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

DOUGLAS B.M. EHLKE WSBA #3160 Ehlke Law Offices 28840 11th Avenue South Federal Way, WA 98063 (253) 839-5555

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

None of APC's supervisors or managers had any knowledge that any unknown material might be encountered at the end of May 25th work shift. APC relied on multiple assurances that all asbestos and block material had been previously removed from APC's work area.

The Department's Brief has only 2 contentions of actual knowledge: a hand drawn map with east/west directions reversed and TransAlta's red/green labels for piping. The map confirms Mr. Ortis's statements and assurances of no asbestos existing inbetween the preheaters and because it had been "removed in the area where the APC employees were going to work." Dept. Brief at pg. 6.

The Department's primary reliance on TransAlta's red and green pipe labeling system for the presence or absence of

asbestos is a red herring. According to TransAlta's own asbestos safety program, Ex. 3, second page, the only application listed "with red and/or green and blue tags" is "insulated **piping**." It is nowhere referenced for any other listed types of insulation.

Moreover, it is undisputed that there are no pipes near preheaters 11 and 12. BR Ortis 9. Perhaps that's why no red or green labels ever appeared on any of the insulation or ducts inbetween the preheaters, and why none were ever put on such ductwork or preheater area insulation as late as a year after May 25, 2009 when the Board hearing was held. BR Puderbaugh 42:15.

The Department claims that, since there was no red or green tag on the area, APC had to assume asbestos was there. That rule applies when there is no designated exclusive asbestos abater present to tell the workers whether asbestos is there or not. Mr. Ortis is the one who would put up the tags. When the APC foreman brought Mr. Ortis to the work station, and Mr. Ortis assured him it was asbestos free, that equals a green tag. APC did what it was supposed to do.

APC has successfully worked as a maintenance subcontractor at the Centralia steam for over 11e years. BR

Puderbaugh 33. From the Department's own research, APC has never been cited under the WISHA asbestos project or asbestos contractor standards; there is no evidence of any previous application of the asbestos abatement contractor standards to any of the APC years of boiler maintenance projects in the Department's WISHA inspections of APC.

3. There Was No Constructive Knowledge

APC made reasonably diligent efforts to determine from TransAlta, the site owner, and from the owner's exclusive asbestos abatement contractor of 25 years that the planned work area was asbestos free, all clear, and safe to work in. APC did its own Job Safety Analysis, which the owner approved. Nothing identified any type of asbestos or any other suspicious or different material. The map showed it as clear. There is no evidence in this record of constructive knowledge.

Reasonable Reliance: Employees can rely on the assurances of another subcontractor, certainly a specialized one, that the other subcontractor will perform or is performing its work assignments. The employer need not duplicate safety efforts taken by the other subcontractor. See: Sasser Electric and

Manufacturing Co., 11 BNA-OSHC 2133 (No. 82-178) (R.C. 1994). In this case, APC received "no asbestos" assurances and a map of the safe and clean area in between preheaters 11 and 12. They even walked the area and had it "checked out" by the owner's asbestos abatement specialists.

APC's reliance on the assurances of the people who are required to know, and verification of an asbestos-free designated work area were both reasonable and diligent. None of the statutory requirements for a serious citation and penalty were met.

TransAlta has used a captive asbestos abatement contractor, Keith Ortis of PAS, at its Centralia plant, for the past 25 years, his work as competent asbestos person applies and transcends to all employers and employees on site. Mr. Ortis testified he is "the only person" who knows where asbestos insulation material is located, absent, or where it has been removed. He has been involved in the insulation and removal of insulation throughout the plant over the last 25 years.

No Records: At the steam plant there are no records kept of asbestos insulation locations or removal. At trial, Mr. Ortis disclosed that no records are kept of where asbestos or insulation exists in the TransAlta plant. He also testified no records are kept

of where asbestos is abated and replaced with insulation. This means that people who come to him for information on where asbestos is and is not, must rely on his memory.

The Department's Compliance Officer saw no problem with this. Mr. Gore testified:

"I am not aware of a record they are required to keep" and

"I am not sure the asbestos contractor needs to keep those records." BR Gore 132.

WAC 296-62-87721 requires building owners and certified asbestos contractors to maintain and show all these types of written records to any subcontractor working onsite. He agreed that building owners are often the only and best source of asbestos information relating to their facility. BR Gore 128. Yet no citations were issued to TransAlta. BR Gore 145. Obviously the map was all that was available. Asking for any insulation location documents would have been useless because none were kept.

Mr. Ortis just went home and never took any asbestos abatement steps on May 25, 2009, although his PAS Company were solely in charge of asbestos. His May 25, 2009 lack of taking any asbestos steps at the scene is revealing: He didn't treat it as

an asbestos event. The Department did not cite PAS for not treating the event or scene as asbestos.

Finally, the Department's own Compliance Officer found no violation of the good faith survey requirement on building owner TransAlta here or of its asbestos abatement contractor. The WISHA regulation standard WAC 296-62-07721 requires building owners such as TransAlta and Department-certified asbestos abatement contractors such as Performance Abatement Services to communicate to all employers and employees on site "the presence, location, and quantity of ACM and/or PACM at the worksite."

Only Two Dumpsters: There were multiple contractors, subcontractors, and even asbestos abatement employees working at this same huge Centralia power plant on the same day shift. Throughout this outage period TransAlta's designated asbestos abatement contractor, PAS, had 25 insulation removal employees working under Mr. Ortis. His crew worked on May 26, 2009 on the 7th Floor preheater insulation.

Any of these hundreds and hundreds of maintenance workers on site could have removed or bagged and dumped materials into either or both of the two dumpsters. And only one of

the guesstimated 25 bags in the dumpsters containing insulation materials was even sampled, and then...only one piece.

That's a 1 in 25 chance of even finding the right bag.8

What was analyzed came from an unidentified source – a sugar cube bag taken from a dumpster used by the real asbestos abatement company (PAS) and retrieved by Mr. Ortis, an employee of that company. Both dumpsters were used by Mr. Ortis' company, and, he said, two dumpsters were not enough. TR of May 17, 2010, BR Ortis at page 20, lines 14-15. "The record is not clear about the contents of the bags Mr. Ortis found in each of the dumpsters." (IAJ's Proposed Decision at page 7, lines 29-30).

No Chain Of Custody: Chain of custody is a critically important requirement when two dumpsters fill up from multiple disposals, materials, contractors and garbage bags.⁹ It has been a dispositive factor in WISHA asbestos cases in a WISHA dumpster sample case.

⁸ Since APC does no asbestos work, they could not have been the ones to throw asbestos containing materials in the dumpster. Of the 25 clear bags and no yellow asbestos bags it had to be from the work done by PAS on May 26, 2009 involving insulation in various areas on the 7th floor. All 25 bags were clear.

⁹ Neither the Department's two cases cited on p. 22 discuss or have anything to do with chain of custody issues. Mowat 148 Wn. App. 920, 201 P.3d 407, was a noise earplug case.

IAJ Board Judge Wayne Araki presided in many WISHA asbestos standard citation appeals and wrote one which became a Significant Board Decision in the Board on the asbestos standard. In another of his early WISHA asbestos standard cases, Judge Araki took expert testimony and exhaustively reviewed the scientific, reliability, and citation validity and the need for a chain of custody to be established for suspected asbestos materials removed from a worksite. See *In re: Jeld-Wen of Everett, Inc.*, Dkt. No. 88 W144 (1990) (copy attached) in CP pg. 119-137.

"The Department has the burden of establishing all of the elements necessary to prove a violation of the cited standards. WAC 296-12-155(2)(b). In this case, they have been unable to sustain their burden of proof with regard to the serious violations were alleged. This failure occurs because of the problems with the evidence which they procured from the waste pile.

The crux of the Department's argument is that the material found near the waste dumpster on the day of the inspection was the cement asbestos board that was removed in the lunchroom remodel project in December, 1991. The Department had been unable to convince me that this sample taken from the waste pile came from that wall. There was no testimony with which this link could be made. Without that link the Department cannot show that the wall removed from the lunchroom contained asbestos and, therefore, their allegations in the serious violations are without merit.

WISHA says it is not necessary for the Department to establish a chain of custody because "There is no evidence that any other subcontractor was removing insulation in the plant."

But there was evidence. Mr. Ortis testified that "when I need additional people I call PCI and PAS and that's how I get my employees, and I probably had 25 people at that time...because it was an outage" BR Ortis 15.

He did not know when APC employees began their work around the preheaters because "I was working other areas." BR Ortis 13.

Mr. Ortis was in charge of taking off and putting on insulation, and he had 25 people working under him on the outage. Everything went into two dumpsters, BR Ortis 20. Mr. Ortis took a piece of insulation the size of a sugar cube out of one bag in one of those dumpsters and it tested positive for asbestos. The Department says we should draw the inference from this "circumstantial evidence" that the two APC employees, not one of the 25 insulation removal employees under Mr. Ortis, must have put it in the dumpster.

Circumstantial evidence can certainly be as good as direct evidence. But the circumstantial evidence has to show that APC

employees put bags in the dumpster and that <u>no one else did</u>. The Department has to exclude the other possibilities before it can say that those bags were full of insulation that APC removed. The two dumpsters contained 25 large bags of insulation – probably much more than the two APC employees could fill in the course of a shift. In addition, Mr. Ortis took possession of the piece on the welding machine and said it was first put into a clear plastic bag which has been lost.

The Department's Statement of the Issues: No. 1 admits the weakness of its "circumstantial evidence." It says, "the evidence shows that APC employees removed <u>at least one</u> 50-60 gallon garbage bag." "At least one" cannot be stretched to cover the 25 clear only plastic bags in two dumpsters used at the steam plant for all contractors that Mr. Ortis testified to, BR Ortis 24. So the rest of those bags must have come from Mr. Ortis' 25 asbestos abaters.

With just two common dumpsters and an asbestos abatement crew much larger than the few APC employees removing insulation, there can be no circumstantial evidence that the material tested was put there by APC.

The Department cites *Harrison v. Whitt*, Brief p. 9, saying that substantial evidence supports that APC's employees were

exposed to asbestos "because a reasonable inference exists that can be drawn from circumstantial facts." 10

The Appeals Court in *Harrison* then went on to examine the facts and exclude other explanations. It concluded that one crop duster caused the damage because the other crop duster could not have. Here the Department makes the bald statement that, "There is no evidence that any other subcontractor was removing insulation in the plant." (Brief p. 23). The Department never asked its witness, Mr. Ortis, if other work was going on. Mr. Ortis did not testify that no other work was going on. The burden is on the Department to prove that no other insulation removal was going on, yet on May 26, 2009 PAS performed insulation removal obviously in clear plastic bags which were the only ones seen in both dumpsters. The presence of 25 asbestos abaters working for Mr. Ortis makes it clear that other insulation work was happening. Those 25 asbestos workers must not have used yellow asbestos bags for disposal on May 26, the very next day, as none were seen

The complete quote from the case says, "<u>A verdict cannot be based</u> on mere theory or speculation,...but it does not rest on speculation or conjecture where the verdict is based upon reasonable inferences drawn from circumstantial facts."

in the dumpsters when Mr. Ortis crawled in on May 27 -- the date of the dumpster sample.

For any dumpster sample to be valid, it should have been taken by the technician. This sugar cube was allegedly taken from an unknown source bag in an unknown dumpster by Mr. Ortis who said he gave it to Karen Lewis. Interestingly in Ex. 9, the lab reports, Karen Lewis is never mentioned nor is Mr. Ortis. The one dumpster sample has a sample date of May 27th, 2009 by Jason Hardy, Ex. 15. Neither Karen or Jason testified. The sample was taken from one of PAS's asbestos material dumpsters. See P.D.&O. and it was taken a day after PAS did insulation removal. But the technician did not take the sample. Mr. Ortis climbed into the dumpster on May 27, 2009 and came out with a piece he handed to the technician. BR Ortis 22-23. If indeed he did get it out of a bag, there is no assurance that it was an APC bag. It could have come from anywhere.

There was one piece of insulation that might have settled the issue if it had been tested. That was the piece that Vince Fierro asked Mr. Ortis to look at. Mr. Fierro was standing in the center between preheaters 11 and 12. BR Fierro 15. The certified asbestos supervisor with Mr. Ortis or an unnamed PAS employee,

bagged it in a regular garbage bag and then claimed it was put into a second bag marked for asbestos but no one else saw this. BR Ortis 16. Then it disappeared. They never tested it. BR Puderbaugh 25:13-14; Gore 140; Ortis 41, and the place where Mr. Fierro stood – between the two preheaters as if he were frozen to the spot according to Mr. Ortis BR Ortis 15:22-23, – that is where Mr. Ortis said there was no asbestos.

The Map: APC got something better than a written narrative of where asbestos was and was not. It got a specific location map showing no asbestos where APC would be working. APC received an onsite assurance there was no asbestos there. They got this from the one person charged with knowledge. That is as good as any survey could be under the circumstances.

The Department argues at Brief pg. 17 that, if the APC citations are voided, asbestos contractors would "intentionally not become certified, so that they could remove asbestos from the job site without any possibility of receiving a WISHA citation." The Department should be worried about certified asbestos contractors who ignore the regulations and provide assurances to companies and their employees who must rely on those assurances to work safely. If those Department-certified abatement contractors are

irresponsible, if they do not keep WISHA-required records, if they secretly depend on what the Department describes as "faulty memory" (Brief - p. 37), they endanger everyone who has to rely on them.

4. Unknowns In This Record

It is clear that the only tested material (the one-inch sized sugar cube selected somewhere from some bag) came from PAS wore and utilized dumpster #1. See the test report, Ex. 15, at page 229 – "out of dumpster #1." Finding one small piece of asbestos in their own asbestos work dumpster # 1 is not substantial evidence of asbestos removal by APC. Where that sugar cube came from or when or by whom... all remains unknown.

The following evidence is missing from this record:

- a. What the composition of the untested, unpreserved, two to three inch thickness material Mr. Johnson and Mr. Fierro discovered on May 25, 2009, attached under the chicken wire and under the sheet metal and mineral wool;
- b. Where the sugar cube sized sample from a garbage bag, from an unknown dumpster, came from on May 27, 2009;

- c. Who or when the sugar cube sized sample was put in the dumpster; and
- d. Chain of custody for any material encountered by Mr. Fierro or Mr. Johnson on May 25, 2009, and the sugar cube sized dumpster sample

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